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AUSTRALIAN CAPITAL TERRITORY
OFFICE OF THE CORONER

19 December 2006

Mr Simon Corbell MLA
Attorney-General

Legislative Assembly of the ACT
Civic Square

London Circuit

CANBERRA ACT 2601

Dear Attorney-General

In accordance with s. 57 of the ACT Coroners Act 1997, 1 report to you on the inquests into the
deaths of Mrs Dorothy McGrath, Mrs Alison Tener, Mr Peter Brooke and Mr Douglas Fraser
and on my inquiry into the fires in the Australian Capital Territory between 8 and 18 January
2003.

When I began the inquests and the inquiry I intended to report to your predecessor by December
2004. Regrettably, a series of delays prevented me from doing this. The longest delay was
occasioned by the litigation initiated by the ACT Government and a small number of ACT
government employees, which effectively added a year to the process. Had the litigation been
successful, I would have been prevented from completing the inquests and the inquiry and been
prevented from reporting my findings to you.

From the accompanying report you will see that I conclude that the failure to aggressively attack
the fires in the first few days after they ignited on 8 January 2003 was one factor that led to the
firestorm on 18 January 2003, which resulted in four deaths, many injuries (some of them
extensive and permanent) and property losses valued at $600 million to $1 billion.

Frankly, on the evidence before the inquiry, it is a miracle that no more than four people died.

I draw your attention to the evidence of the residents affected by the fires. I also make it clear
that, once the four fires had combined to produce the firestorm on 18 January, containment and
control were impossible, despite the best efforts of the firefighters.

On the evidence before the inquiry, I conclude that the failure to warn the community—despite
senior personnel of the Emergency Services Bureau having knowledge that the fires would burn
into the suburbs—was a factor that exacerbated the property losses and resulted in panic and
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confusion throughout the affected suburbs on the day of the firestorm.

I note too that, in accordance with the long-established Westminster convention of responsible
government, the responsible Minister at the time of the firestorm was Mr Jon Stanhope in his
capacity as Chief Minister and Attorney-General—with responsibility for the Department of
Justice and Community Safety, which organisationally incorporated the Emergency Services
Bureau—and in his further capacity as acting Minister for Police and Emergency Services
between 17 and 19 January 2003. Here, I draw your attention to the expert opinion of Sir Peter
Lawler in the report.

I also draw your attention to the conclusion reached by CSIRO fire expert Mr Phil Cheney after
the firestorm:

If similar weather and fuel conditions were to occur in the ACT, and historical accounts
indicate this is possible, then a fire starting under extreme weather 40 km north-west of
Canberra could burn to the suburbs in 2—-3 hours. It is therefore fanciful in the extreme
to imagine that any emergency service organisation is going to be able to stop fires and
provide total protection under these conditions.

Pursuant to s. 52 of the Coroners Act, I make a number of findings about the manner and cause
of the four deaths, when and where they occurred, the cause and origin of the fires, and the
circumstances in which the fires occurred. I also comment throughout the report on matters
connected with the deaths and the fires that bear on public health or safety or the administration
of justice.

Further, in accordance with s. 57 of the Act, I make a number of recommendations in connection
with the inquests and the inquiry, including on matters relating to public health or safety or the
administration of justice. Among these recommendations are the following:

o that the Emergency Services Agency be removed from the Department of Justice and
Community Safety and become again a statutory authority, as previously recommended by
Mr Ron McLeod AM and previously agreed to and acted on by the ACT Government

e that the ACT Government engage in a formal, detailed memorandum of understanding with
the NSW Government in relation to emergency and bushfire-fighting activities, in order to
take advantage of the economies of scale, the resources and the expertise that reside within
the relevant NSW bodies and in order to eliminate, as far as is possible, the operational
constraints that result from the ACT being an island in the sea of NSW

e that there be an ongoing program of back-burning and fuel-load management across the
ACT, to ensure that at all times forestry and other access roads are kept clear and are
accessible to emergency personnel and vehicles and to ensure that fuel loads are kept at a
level that will minimise the risk of a recurrence of the firestorm

o that a taskforce be established to effect the implementation of the recommendations
contained in this report, any of Mr McLeod’s recommendations that are yet to be
implemented, and any unimplemented recommendations that remain current from the
previous seven reviews of the Emergency Services Bureau. If they are willing and available



to participate, Mr Phil Cheney, Mr Tony Bartlett, Mr Val Jeffery and Mr John Lowe should
be among the members of the taskforce

o that the Coroners Act be amended in several respects

e that—as a means of eliminating difficulties encountered during the inquiry and for reasons
to do with accountability and the separation of powers in the administration of justice—self-
administration and appropriation of funds by the Legislative Assembly directly to the ACT
courts be introduced

o that a system of public warnings using grid references on the maps in the Canberra
telephone directory be adopted.

Finally, Mr Attorney, I express the hope that the findings and recommendations in this report
will be given serious consideration and that the recommendations will be adopted in an effort to
take all reasonable steps to try to avoid a repeat of the January 2003 catastrophe—a catastrophe
that affected so many people in the ACT.

I say this in the knowledge that the ACT Government publicly committed itself to
implementation of the recommendations made in the McLeod report, yet within a very short time
of their implementation the Government recanted on one of the most important of these
recommendations—that the Emergency Services Bureau, now the Emergency Services Agency,
become a statutory authority.

Yours sincerely

Aoy

Maria Doogan
Coroner






Foreword

On 8 January 2003 lightning strikes in the ACT and surrounding area caused four fires known as
the Mclntyres Hut fire, the Bendora fire, the Stockyard Spur fire and the Mount Gingera fire.
Eventually these fires combined to produce the firestorm that devastated the ACT on 18 January
2003.

I record here my admiration for the effort made by the large number of men and women at the
firefront: they gave their all, working unstintingly in the face of fires that by 18 January had
grown to a point beyond control.

As a community, we are greatly indebted to the emergency services workers; the rural and urban
firefighters, both full time and volunteer; parks and forestry staff; rural residents who fought the
fires; police officers; ambulance personnel; hospital staff; people who worked in the recovery
centres; ActewAGL employees; people from various charities; the many volunteers who came
from near and far to help; and last, but by no means least, the thousands of residents who came
together to help one another in a time of need.

Maria Doogan
Coroner
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Part One

About the inquiry






1 Preliminary matters and
jurisdiction

Saturday 18 January 2003 will remain in the consciousness of the ACT community as a day of
tragedy, a day of bravery, and a day of loss for many people.

The ACT is an island in the sea of New South Wales. Once the Mclntyres Hut fire in NSW
gathered momentum, crossed the border and joined the fires burning in the ACT, it became
inevitable that the resultant firestorm would deliver its fury to both rural and urban areas of the
ACT, turning some areas into an inferno that firefighters had no way of controlling.

The firestorm was a tragedy of momentous proportion:
e Four people died.

e  Four hundred and thirty-five people were injured, some suffering injuries that necessitated
removal interstate for long-term treatment of burns.

e Four hundred and eighty-seven homes were destroyed.
o  Twenty-three commercial and government premises were destroyed.

e  Two hundred and fifteen homes, commercial premises, government premises and
outbuildings were damaged.

e  Mount Stromlo Observatory, an institution of international renown, was destroyed.
e An inestimable number of animals were killed or injured.
e Almost 70 per cent of the ACT—157 170 hectares—was burnt.

e The financial losses have been estimated to amount to at least $610 million." When
(unquantified) losses arising from damage done to catchment areas and the flow-on effect in
terms of costs to Canberra’s water supply are added, it has been suggested that this figure
could be closer to $1 billion.”

Could the catastrophe have been prevented? It is, perhaps, impossible to say. It can, however, be
said that the firestorm’s severity and impact could have been mitigated.

During the inquiry it was submitted that the severity of the firestorm could not have been
foreseen. I do not accept this. Australia has a recorded history of extreme fire events dating back
to at least 1851.° As is discussed in Chapter 7, CSIRO fire expert Mr Phil Cheney predicted
several years ago a conflagration of the type experienced in January 2003. He made his
prediction on the basis of information in the report of one of the seven inquiries that have been
held since 1986 to examine various aspects of the ACT’s emergency services.
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The point to make here is that experiences in life, be they good or bad, serve no useful purpose if
we fail to learn from them. It is to be hoped, therefore, that the many lessons that can be learnt
from this catastrophe in the ACT are in fact learnt and result in positive action, not just
supportive words and shallow promises.

For the sake of our community today and in the future, I hope my findings and recommendations
are not relegated to the archives to gather dust—as has occurred with the reports of several of the
previous inquiries.

History is the best predictor of the future.

The evidence before the inquiry revealed that those in authority could, and should, have done
many things to reduce the extent of disaster and loss. The evidence also revealed highly
commendable efforts—and, indeed, bravery—on the part of volunteer, rural and urban
firefighters, parks and forestry staff, the rural landholders, the police, ambulance personnel, the
many people who came from interstate to help and, not least, the large number of people in the
ACT community who came together to help one another in the face of a terrible event.

1.1 The subject matters of the report

The proceedings I conducted were twofold:

e inquests into the deaths of four people—Dorothy McGrath, Alison Mary Tener, Douglas
John Fraser and Peter Brabazon Brooke—on 18 January 2003, when fires invaded a forestry
settlement and Canberra suburbs

e an inquiry into three ACT fires that joined a fire that began in NSW and then crossed the
border into the ACT. All four fires were caused by lightning on 8 January 2003. The ACT
fires were called the Bendora fire, the Stockyard Spur fire and the Mount Gingera fire; the
fire that began in NSW was called the McIntyres Hut fire.

The proceedings became known as the ‘Bushfire Inquiry’. Although they involved two distinct
components, I generally use the term ‘the inquiry’ in this report for ease of reference to both the
inquests and the Bushfire Inquiry.

1.2 Structure of the report

The report is divided into four parts and 10 chapters:

e In Part One, this first chapter describes the legislative basis for the inquests into the deaths
and the inquiry into the fires, the obligations and restrictions imposed on me by the law, and
a number of other preliminary matters. Chapter 2 lists the names of the people who gave
evidence before the inquiry and the names of counsel who represented interested persons,
organisations and authorities. Chapter 3 details the course of the inquests and the inquiry,
from the first directions hearing on 16 June 2003 until 28 July 2006, the last day on which
oral submissions were made.
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e In Part Two, Chapter 4 provides information about the situation in the ACT before the fires
started on 8 January 2003 and Chapter 5 is a chronology of events, tracing the progress of
the fires from their ignition until 18 January 2003, when they burned into the suburbs of
Canberra.

e In Part Three, Chapter 6 examines the initial response to the fires, from 8 January 2003, and
Chapter 7 discusses the question of warnings to the community.

e In Part Four, Chapter 8 deals with the circumstances of the deaths of Dorothy McGrath,
Alison Tener, Douglas Fraser and Peter Brooke and Chapter 9 deals with a number of other
matters that arose during the inquiry and are associated with the administration of justice. In
Chapter 10 I present my findings and recommendations.

The report is based on a very large quantity of exhibits, evidence and submissions by counsel. It
is possible that there will be instances where I quote verbatim from submissions and other
documents but make no attribution. This should be treated as a combination of me agreeing with
the statement at the time I read and reproduced it and the fact that this final report is the result of
several iterations and edits. Some attributions might have been overlooked. This was not
intentional: it is inevitable with an inquiry that generated documents running to more than

10 000 pages.

Despite this, at the outset I make it plain that I considered a// the evidence and took it into
account when compiling my report. Given the extensive public interest in the inquiry, it is
important that the relevant information be made public. I have therefore authorised the
publication of the complete transcript of proceedings and the submissions made at the end of the
inquiry. This material already appears on the ACT Magistrates Court website; for the sake of
completeness, attached to this report is a compact disc that contains an electronic version of this
report, the transcript and submissions.

1.3 The jurisdiction of a coroner

At the outset I record my appreciation of the submissions on jurisdiction made by counsel,
especially those from counsel assisting, counsel for the ACT, and counsel for the NSW
interested persons. These were very useful, especially in the light of the jurisdictional restrictions
referred to by the Full Bench of the ACT Supreme Court in the litigation initiated by the ACT
Government and some of its employees.*

1.3.1  The Coroners Act

The ACT Coroners Act 1997 makes provision for the holding of inquests into deaths and
inquiries into fires and disasters and contains provisions for related purposes. Interpretation of
the Act is in accordance with the provisions of the Act itself, the provisions of the ACT
Legislation Act 2001 and relevant case law.
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1.3.2  General functions of a coroner

The general functions of a coroner are dealt with in s. 12 of the Coroners Act, which provides
that a coroner has the functions and jurisdiction given by the Act or any other ACT law. It also
provides that—except as otherwise provided by the Act—a coroner has all the functions and
jurisdiction that were vested in a coroner immediately before the commencement of the Coroners
Act 1956. (Before self-government in the ACT, the legislation was known as the Coroners
Ordinance 1956.) The legislation in force before the Coroners Act 1956 came into force was the
Coroners Ordinance 1932, as amended by the Seat of Government (Designation) Ordinance
1938. 1t became the Coroners Ordinance 1932—1938, which provided, among other things, that
the NSW Coroners Act 1912 applied to the ACT. Examination of that legislation reveals there
are neither coronial functions nor jurisdiction not otherwise covered by the Coroners Act 1997.
I therefore make no further reference to coronial legislation previously in force in the ACT.

1.3.3  Procedure and discretion

Section 47 of the Coroners Act 1997 provides that a coroner is not bound to observe the rules of
procedure and evidence applicable to court proceedings. It also makes provision for a coroner to
give directions in the course of an inquest or inquiry. The Act—read in conjunction with and
interpreted by the ACT Legislation Act 2001—gives the coroner very extensive discretion in the
conduct of inquests and inquiries. For example:

e discretion to allow representation—s. 42

discretion to appoint investigators—s. 59

discretion about undertaking a view—s. 61

discretion to seek police assistance—s. 63

as noted, discretion in relation to procedure and evidence—s. 47.

1.3.4  Learning, not blaming

I adopted this subheading from the submissions of counsel for the ACT because it encapsulates
the nature of the coronial jurisdiction. In this regard, counsel for the ACT submitted:

It is not the role of the coroner to make findings of contribution, blame or guilt. Indeed,
the removal of the power to make findings of contribution, which occurred with the
enactment of the 1997 Act, emphasises the limits upon the coronial jurisdiction in this
respect. It is for the coroner to make findings, comments and recommendations as
permitted by the Act.’

Counsel’s reference to ‘contribution’ is a reference to the fact that in the legislation that preceded
the Coroners Act 1997 provision was made for a coroner to find that a person contributed to the
cause of a fire or the cause of a death.® In the absence of such a provision in the current Act, it is
arguable that I am prevented from making a finding that a person or people contributed to the
deaths of the four deceased persons who are the subject of this report and that I am also
prevented from finding that one or more people contributed to the fires that are the subject of this
report. I say more about this in Chapter 9.
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Counsel for the ACT referred me to Lord Lane CJ in Reg v South London Coroner, ex parte
Thompson, in which Lord Lane said:

Once again it should not be forgotten that an inquest is a fact finding exercise and not a
method of apportioning guilt. The procedure and rules of evidence which are suitable
for one are unsuitable for the other. In an inquest it should never be forgotten that there
are no parties, there is no indictment, there is no prosecution, there is no defence, there
is no trial, simply an attempt to establish facts.”

Counsel for the ACT also submitted that this passage had been relied on by the High Court in
Toohey J’s judgment in Annetts v McCann. This submission is debatable in that Annetts v
McCann involved a provision of the Western Australian Coroners Act 1920, and Toohey J’s
reference to Lord Lane’s statement was in the context of explaining the rationale behind a
particular provision in the Western Australian legislation that was based on the English coronial
system.® Nevertheless, I take the point that the aim of the inquiry is to seek out the truth of what
happened in order to learn from the established facts and endeavour to ensure that, where
mistakes have been made or things could have been done in a better way, lessons are absorbed
and the prospect of similar mistakes occurring in the future is eliminated or, if this is not
possible, reduced.

Once the truth is established, however, it is often impossible to learn from mistakes made
without finding fault on the part of individuals—as will be clear from a number of the chapters
that follow. The Act anticipates this in s. 55, which is a natural justice and procedural fairness
provision aimed at ensuring that any adverse comment made by a coroner in his or her findings
or report is brought to the notice of the person who is the subject of the adverse comment and
that the person concerned has the opportunity to make a submission or give a written statement
to the coroner in relation to the comment. The person may ask that the coroner include in his or
her report such a statement or submission or a fair summary of it. Once a coroner receives such a
statement or submission, the coroner may modify his or her intended comment or remove it
altogether. This is an important provision; it is worth setting it out in full:

55(1) A coroner shall not include in a finding or report under this Act (including an
annual report) a comment adverse to a person identifiable from the finding or
report unless he or she has, prior to the making of the finding or report, taken
all reasonable steps to give to the person a copy of the proposed comment and
a written notice advising the person that, within a specified period (being not
more than 28 days and not less than 14 days after the date of the notice), the
person may—

(a) make a submission to the coroner in relation to the proposed
comment; or

(b) give to the coroner a written statement in relation to it.

(2)  The coroner may extend, by not more than 28 days, the period of time
specified in a notice under subsection (1).

3) Where the person so requests, the coroner shall include in the report the
statement given under subsection (1)(b) or a fair summary of it.

It was submitted—directly or indirectly—by counsel for the ACT and for Messrs Mike Castle,
Peter Lucas-Smith and Rick McRae that the rule in Browne v Dunn’ precludes me from making
any adverse comment, finding or inference from the evidence without giving the person who
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might be the subject of that comment, finding or inference the opportunity to reply by having the
matter put to him or her in examination or cross-examination. The High Court of Australia
recently explained the rule in Browne v Dunn: ‘The rule is essentially that a party is obliged to
give appropriate notice to the other party, and any of that person’s witnesses, of any imputation
that the former intends to make against either of the latter about his or her conduct relevant to the
case, or a party’s or a witness’s credit’.!® Their Honours, Gummow, Kirby and Callinan JJ, went
on to observe, ‘Reliance on the rule in Browne v Dunn can be both misplaced and overstated’.""

I reject the submission by these four counsel for three reasons. First, this inquiry is neither civil
litigation involving parties nor a criminal prosecution. Second, it would be impossible in a matter
such as this inquiry—which has been very long and where the evidence has evolved over time—
to anticipate every possible matter that could become the subject of an adverse comment, finding
or inference and put that to the person giving evidence. (In this regard it should be remembered
that neither a coronial inquest nor an inquiry is an adversarial proceeding, and the rules of
evidence do not apply.) Third, to accept the proposition would be to ignore the existence of s. 55
of the Act.

As their Honours observed in R v Doogan, it is a matter for me as coroner to determine whether
any adverse comments should be made in the light of evidence adduced during the course of the
inquiry.

1.3.5 Deaths

The Coroners Act 1997 makes provision, in relation to a range of situations in which a person is
killed or dies, for a coroner to hold an inquest into the manner and cause of death of the person
(s. 13(1)). The Act also requires a coroner holding an inquest to find, if possible, the identity of
the deceased person, when and where the death occurred, and the manner and cause of death

(s. 52(1)). Additionally, the Act permits a coroner to comment on any matter connected with the
death, including public health or safety or the administration of justice (s. 52(4)). Further, the
Act provides discretion to a coroner to make recommendations to the Attorney-General on any
matter connected with an inquest, including matters relating to public health or safety or the
administration of justice (s. 57(3)). There is also provision in the Act for a coroner to make an
interim finding (s. 53).

When considering the scope of these provisions, there is a great deal of case law on which to
draw in an effort to determine the boundaries that applied when conducting the four inquests and
the inquiry.

The notion of ‘causation’ is of particular importance and has been considered by the High Court
of Australia on a number of occasions. In March v Stramare (E&MH Pty Ltd & Another), a case
involving negligence and personal injury, Mason CJ had this to say:

Commentators subdivide the issue of causation in a given case into two questions: the
question of causation in fact—to be determined by the application of the ‘but for’ test—
and the further question whether a defendant is in law responsible for damage which his
or her negligence has played some part in producing ... However, this approach to the
issue of causation (a) places rather too much weight on the ‘but for’ test to the exclusion
of the ‘common sense’ approach which the common law has always favoured; and (b)
implies, or seems to imply, that a value judgment has, or should have, no part to play in
resolving causation as an issue of fact. As Dixon CJ, Fullagar and Kitto JJ remarked in
Fitzgerald v Penn (49) ‘it is all ultimately a matter of common sense’ and ‘in truth the

8 The Canberra Firestorm: Inquests and Inquiry into Four Deaths and Four Fires between 8 and 18 January 2003


http:overstated�.11
http:credit�.10

conception in question [that is, causation] is not susceptible of reduction to a
satisfactory formula’ (50).”"

This common-sense approach has been followed in various Australian jurisdictions, and
legislative provisions similar to those that bind me have been considered. In Harmsworth v State
Coroner Nathan J considered a similar provision in Victoria relating to the coronial power to
comment. He explained, ‘The power to comment, arises as a consequence of the obligation to
make findings ... It is not free ranging ... It arises as a consequence of an exercise of a coroner’s

prime function, that is to make “findings™."”

Cause of death was considered by Lee J in Queensland Fire and Rescue Authority v Hall. His
Honour described cause of death in the following terms: ‘The death is the actual event and the
cause of it is the process of happening which brought the death about and is the cause of it ...""*
This case was later considered in South Australia in WRB Transport Pty Ltd & Ors v Chivell,
both in the first instance and on appeal, with the Full Bench applying the March decision as
follows:

The cause of a person’s death in respect of the coroner’s jurisdiction is a question of
fact which, like causation in the common law, must be determined by applying common
sense to the facts of each particular case: Mason CJ, March v E&MH Stramare Pty Ltd
(1991) 171 CLR 506 at 515. The coroner, therefore, has to carry out an inquiry into the
facts surrounding the death of the deceased to determine what, as a matter of common
sense, has been the cause of that person’s death. The inquiry will not be limited to those
facts which are immediately approximate in time to the deceased’s death ... Thatis a
factual inquiry which only has, as its boundaries, common sense ... The circumstances
surrounding the death of the deceased may be important, for the purpose of the coroner
adding to his or her findings, recommendations which might prevent or reduce the
likelihood of a recurrence of a death."

In the litigation initiated by the ACT Government and a number of its employees during the
course of this inquiry, the Full Bench of the Supreme Court of the ACT referred with approval to
the earlier quotation from Harmsworth v State Coroner.'® Similarly, they adopted the common-
sense approach from March, saying:

A coroner conducting an inquest into the death of a person may be obliged to consider
whether the death was attributable to accident or homicide ... If that situation does not
arise, the coroner will be obliged to make findings as to the nature of the acts and/or
omissions that cause the death, even if they reflect adversely on the reputation of one or
more people involved in the relevant incident ... The application of the common sense
test of causation will normally exclude a quest to apportion blame or a wide-ranging
investigation into antecedent policies and practices.'”

A few months after the Supreme Court of the ACT delivered its judgment in R v Doogan, the
High Court of Australia delivered its judgment in Travel Compensation Fund v Tambree (t/as R
Tambree and Associates) & Ors."® Statements made in each of the four judgments are
instructive. When considering the question of causation under the Fair Trading Act, Gleeson CJ

stated, °... the statutory purpose is the primary source of the relevant legal norms’."

Gummow and Hayne JJ observed, ‘It is now clear that there are cases in which the answer to a
question of causation will differ according to the purpose for which the question is asked ... it is
doubtful whether there is any “common sense” notion of causation which can provide a useful,
still less universal, legal norm ..."*" Kirby J agreed with Callinan J: ¢... Tribunals of fact cannot
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resort to “an invariable scientific formula”. They must draw on common sense, experience,
understanding, a multiplicity of community values and their own judgment ...’*' Callinan J
expanded on the subject:

It would be a delusion to think that a disputed question of causation can be resolved
according to an invariable scientific formula, and without acknowledgement that
common sense, that is, the sum of the Tribunal’s experience as a tribunal, its
constituents’ knowledge and understanding of human affairs, its knowledge of other
cases and its assessment of the ways in which notional fair-minded people might view
the relevant facts, is likely to influence the result ... tribunals of fact have to do the best
they can. And that which has to be done is better done with candour, and candour
demands the acknowledgement by any tribunal or any judge called upon to resolve a
matter, of the use of his or her common sense in determining causation ...*

Finally, on the subject of inquests and in the context of adverse findings, counsel assisting
submitted that if I am satisfied that the actions or inactions of an agency or person were a cause
of any of the deaths I am obliged by the Act to so find.>® Counsel for the ACT conceded that,
although there might be some debate over whether s. 52(1) of the Act imposes an obligation to
make such findings in an inquest, power to make such findings does exist.**

1.3.6  Fire

The Coroners Act 1997 makes provision for a coroner to hold an inquiry into the cause and
origin of a fire that has destroyed or damaged property (s. 18(1) and 52(2)(a)). It also requires a
coroner, if possible, to find the circumstances in which the fire or disaster occurred (s. 52(2)(b)).
As in the case of a death, a coroner may comment on any matter connected with a fire, including
public health or safety or the administration of justice (s. 52(4)). Again as in the case of a death,
a coroner may make recommendations to the Attorney-General on any matter connected with
that inquiry, including matters relating to public health or safety or the administration of justice
(s. 57(3)). Further, as with an inquest, a coroner may make an interim finding on any matter
connected with the inquiry (s. 53).

The scope of the fire inquiry was dealt with at some length in R v Doogan.”® Higgins CJ, Crispin
P and Bennett J referred to s. 18(1) of the Act in the following terms:

... Unlike a death, a fire is not a one-off event but a process that develops over time.
The process may have been initiated by a single event such as ignition due to a
lightning strike or, as in the present case, by ignition due to lightning strikes at four
separate places. However, when the concept of causation is applied to a process that has
developed over a period of several days, it must extend beyond such origins to embrace
those factors that had a causal effect on the development or continuance of the process.
It would be quite unrealistic to regard a fire that had travelled long distances and/or
burnt out vast areas of bushland as co-extensive with a fire that had been smouldering
on the end of a cigarette when negligently thrown from a car window and then dismiss
from any consideration any intervening or contributing events. In any event, the
meaning of a statutory provision of uncertain scope is not to be found by relentless
adherence to semantics or philosophical argument, but by attempting to deduce the
intention of the legislature ... We are satisfied that the term, ‘the fire’, in s18 of the Act
should be construed to mean the fire that caused the damage to property rather than
merely the initial ignition from which that fire ultimately developed. In the present
case, it was open to the coroner to inquire into ‘the cause and origin’ of the fire that
swept through parts of Canberra causing the deaths of four people and immense damage
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to property on 18 January 2003, and to consider all of the factors that might reasonably
be regarded as having been causative of the entire process of that fire. The phrase
‘cause and origin’ is not a hendiadys. A coroner is required to inquire into two separate
concepts. The word ‘origin’ means, of course, the source or beginning, and in the
context of a fire it clearly refers to the starting point. Hence, the origin or origins of the
fire can usually be identified with some confidence. In the present case, the origins of
the fire would have been the locations of the lightning strikes that ignited each of the
four fires that later converged into the overall conflagration.?

Their Honours went on to deal with the concept of causation, which I discuss in Section 1.3.5 in
relation to death. After noting that many factors can contribute to the development of a fire or
fires over a period, such that a coroner might need to inquire into a range of causal facts and
circumstances, their Honours noted the limitations that apply:

... even in relation to statutory provisions such as that contained in s18(1), questions
inevitably arise as to whether particular factors are too remote to be regarded as having
been causative of the fire, as it developed, in any real sense. To take but one example, it
may be thought that the thickness of the vegetation at the site where the fire
commenced had some causal relevance and, if [the coroner] came to that view, then she
would clearly be entitled to make a finding to that effect ... Section 18(1) does not
authorise the coroner to conduct a wide-ranging inquiry akin to that of a Royal
Commission ... A line must be drawn at some point beyond which, even if relevant,
factors which came to light will be considered too remote from the event to be regarded
as causative. The point where such a line is to be drawn must be determined not by the
application of some concrete rule, but by what is described as the ‘common sense’ test
of causation affirmed by the High Court of Australia in March v E&MH Stramare Pty
Ltd (1991) 171 CLR 506.7

The ACT has a history of coronial inquiries that have been wide-ranging. Their Honours gave
consideration to this and made the following observation:

We should, perhaps, mention that it was suggested in argument that other coroners had,
from time to time, conducted inquests or inquiries that ranged far beyond issues relating
to the manner and cause of a death or the cause and origin of a fire. However, the
present applications do not raise any issue as to the legality of the approach adopted in
such proceedings and it would be inappropriate for us to make any comment about them
other than to observe that, even if the relevant provisions of the Act have previously
been overlooked, they nonetheless impose legal constraints on the jurisdiction that may
be exercised by coroners in this Territory. The position may be different in other
jurisdictions where the comparable provisions confer broader powers.”®

Chapter 9 discusses this further.

Their Honours then went on to deal with what they described as the duty to make findings. In
relation to s. 52(2)(b) of the Act, they said:
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... the ‘circumstances’ to which the provision is directed are circumstances that are
related to the cause and origin of the fire ... The word ‘circumstances’ has a wide
meaning and the concept referred to in s52(2)(b) of the Act is broader than that referred
to in s52(2)(a) of the Act [the cause and origin of the fire] ... A coroner is not
authorised to make findings in relation to any circumstances arising from the fire, but
only in relation to the circumstances in which the fire occurred ... In essence, it is for
the [coroner] to determine whether any particular factor should be regarded as a
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relevant circumstance and whether the evidence is sufficient to enable her to make any
finding about it.”’

Finally, their Honours dealt with a coroner’s right to make comments in accordance with
s. 52(4):

Comments may obviously extend beyond the scope of ‘findings’. The latter term refers
to judicial satisfaction that facts have been proven to the requisite standard or the legal
principles have been established. The former refers to observations about the relevant
issues, and may extend to recommendations intended to reduce the risk of similar fires,
deaths or disasters occurring in the future.*

1.3.7  The ACT as an island

Because the ACT is a self-governing territory surrounded by the state of NSW, the jurisdiction
covered by the Coroners Act 1997 is necessarily limited by the extent to which the ACT
Legislative Assembly is empowered to legislate.

Counsel for the NSW represented persons provided to the inquiry extensive submissions on the
limits imposed on me in relation to the largest of the four fires, the McIntyres Hut fire, which
began in NSW and ultimately joined the ACT fires to become the firestorm. The essence of the
submissions is as follows:

12

Section 22 of the Australian Capital Territory (Self-Government) Act 1988 (Cth) gives
power to the ACT Legislative Assembly to make laws for the peace, order and good
government of the ACT.

Section 4 of the Legislation Act 2001 (ACT) applies to all ACT Acts, and s. 3(2)(c)(iii) of
that Act provides rules about the interpretation of ACT legislation.

Section 120 of the Legislation Act 2001 (ACT) limits the coronial jurisdiction to matters
about which the Legislative Assembly has power to confer that jurisdiction.

Section 122 of the Legislation Act 2001 (ACT) provides that a reference to a place,
jurisdiction or anything else must be taken to be a reference to a place, jurisdiction or thing
in the ACT.

The effect of s. 122 of the Legislation Act 2001 (ACT) is that the relevant provisions of the
Coroners Act 1997 (ACT) are deemed to include the words ‘in the ACT’ such that, for
example, s. 18(1) is deemed to read ‘A coroner shall hold an inquiry into the cause and
origin of a fire in the ACT ...’

The first point at which jurisdiction to inquire into the McIntyres Hut fire is acquired is
when that fire crossed the NSW border into the ACT on 18 January 2003, and this was the
first time it became a fire in the ACT.

The cause and origin of the Mclntyres Hut fire are a question solely for the NSW coroner.

‘... the question of the cause of a fire that comes across the border must be confined to a
cause that is directly connected with a relevant matter for the good government of the ACT.
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That may extend, for example, to matters of liaison by ACT authorities with firefighting
agencies in a State. Or perhaps precautions may have to be taken in the ACT at particular
locations on the border because some feature of the terrain or vegetation may increase the

risk of a fire crossing the border into the ACT at those points’.*’

e The ACT Legislative Assembly does not have power to make a law that would authorise an
ACT coroner to make any findings, comment or criticism in relation to NSW government
agencies.

e In this inquiry there is a lawful power to inquire into the McIntyres Hut fire as long as there
is a rational connection with the ACT coronial jurisdiction.

By and large, I accept these submissions that I have no legal power to formally find the cause
and origin of a fire or fires occurring in NSW. I am limited to events that occurred in the ACT.
In order to make sense, however, of the events that occurred on 18 January 2003 in the ACT
once the Mclntyres Hut fire had crossed the border and entered the ACT, it was necessary for me
to examine as a matter of fact what took place in NSW in the days leading up to 18 January. To
do otherwise would be nonsensical and would be to fail to put into any context the fires that
ultimately reached Canberra. Indeed, this was recognised by counsel representing the NSW
interested persons:

First, your Honour needs to know the story of the fire in order to put other evidence in
context. This is similar to the well-known principle in evidence law of the res gestae ...
Second, some matters of chronology and narrative clearly have relevance to the cause
and origin of the fire within the ACT ... [Third] your Honour’s jurisdiction is that of a
coroner [and you] must inquire independently into the facts. In the investigation phase
that will involve, of necessity, following evidence to see where it might lead. Thus it
was appropriate for your Honour to hear from those NSW witnesses who gave
evidence, and to have regard to the NSW documents forming part of the coroner’s brief
in order to see where that evidence led in terms of cause and origin of the ACT fire ...*

1.3.8  Hindsight versus foresight

Counsel for the ACT made extensive written submissions under the heading ‘The benefit of
hindsight’. The general thrust of those submissions was that it is easy to be wise in hindsight,
and they referred to several cases relating to the risk of judging actions after the event and with
the benefit of hindsight. They also said, ‘It would be unfair, unrealistic and inappropriate to
measure the performance of persons and individuals in the ACT by reference to a benchmark or
measuring stick formulated upon the basis of experience of other jurisdictions or by reference to
the extraordinary and catastrophic forces that struck Canberra on 18 January 2003°.%

Counsel representing Mr Lucas-Smith and Mr Castle also made extensive submissions on the
subject of hindsight. They, too, drew my attention to many cases dealing with hindsight and to a
number of statements on the subject by coroners in other Australian jurisdictions. For example,
they referred to the words of Northern Territory Coroner Cavanagh in his findings on the death
of Sarah Rose Higgins: ‘It is always necessary to make allowance for the fact that the coronial
process is conducted with the benefit of hindsight. It is not appropriate to judge those individuals
whose actions are the subject of scrutiny during the course of that process in accordance with the

counsel of perfection’.**

The Canberra Firestorm: Inquests and Inquiry into Four Deaths and Four Fires between 8 and 18 January 2003 13


http:perfection�.34
http:2003�.33
http:points�.31

Similar submissions were made by counsel representing other interested persons. Counsel
assisting took the contrary position, however, when making the following oral submission in
reply: ‘If the evidence demonstrates, as we submit that it does, that particular people knew
particular things at a relevant time and failed to act on their own knowledge then there is no role
for complaining about the wisdom of hindsight, but rather the complaint is that there was a

failure to have appropriate foresight’.*

All the submissions were helpful in my analysis of the evidence and had an effect on the
conclusions I reached and the findings and recommendations I make as a result. Ultimately,
though, it must be said that wisdom acquired through hindsight is of great assistance when one
seeks to avoid making the same mistakes again if a similar situation arises. It also helps ensure
that foresight informs future decision making.

1.4 Views

It is a long-established coronial practice—in the ACT specifically and throughout Australia
generally—to inspect the scene of an event that is the subject of an inquest or inquiry. Such visits
are generally known as ‘views’. The undertaking of such views is dealt with in s. 61 of the
Coroners Act 1997 and is discretionary.

The benefit of viewing the scene of a death or a fire is that it helps with understanding the
evidence that is later led in the inquest or inquiry. I viewed the devastation of the firestorm on
three occasions, all of which were before evidence taking began on 7 October 2003. The three
occasions were:

e by car in company with the police in the urban areas on Sunday 19 January 2003
e by helicopter with Mr Peter Lucas-Smith on 28 January 2003

e by four-wheel drive in company with counsel assisting, two officers from the Office of the
ACT Director of Public Prosecutions (Ms Sara Cronan and Ms Helen Drew), and Messrs
Phil Cheney, Trevor Roche, Sean Cheney and Peter Hutchings.

In the High Court of Australia Dixon CJ and Webb, Kitto and Taylor JJ made plain the rule
about views: ‘... the rule is that a view is for the purpose of enabling the tribunal to understand
the questions that are being raised, to follow the evidence and to apply it, but not to put the result
of the view in place of evidence: London General Omnibus Co Ltd v Lavell ...”*
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2 Appearances, representation
and witnesses

2.1 Counsel assisting the coroner

Mr Lex Lasry QC and Mr Ted Woodward appeared as counsel assisting me in my role as
coroner; they were instructed by the Office of the ACT Director of Public Prosecutions. Ms Sara
Cronan also appeared as counsel assisting until July 2004.

During the inquiry the Australian Capital Territory and nine territory employees submitted to me
that I should cease to act as coroner and, in support of their submissions, were critical of certain
actions by Mr Lasry. Thereupon, Messrs Lasry and Woodward stood aside and were replaced by
Mr Julian Burnside QC and Ms Penny Neskovcin, who performed the role of contradictors to the
submissions made by counsel for the ACT and the nine territory employees.

After careful consideration of those submissions, I rejected them. This resulted in the ACT and
the nine territory employees initiating proceedings in the Supreme Court of the ACT.
Mr Burnside and Ms Neskovcin continued to act as contradictors during these proceedings.

This litigation was unsuccessful, and when I resumed the inquiry Mr Lasry and Mr Woodward
resumed their role as counsel assisting.

2.2 Witnesses and entities represented by counsel
Section 42 of the ACT Coroners Act 1997 provides as follows:
42. Representation at Hearing
A Coroner may grant leave to a person—
(a) who has been summoned to give evidence in relation to an inquest or inquiry; or

(b) who, in the opinion of the Coroner, has a sufficient interest in the subject matter of
the inquest or inquiry;

to appear in person at a hearing or to be represented by a legal practitioner and, at the
hearing, to examine and cross-examine witnesses on matters relevant to the inquest or
the inquiry to which the hearing relates.

The following entities and individuals were given leave to be represented by a legal practitioner.
Not all the named legal practitioners represented the entities or individuals for the duration of the
inquiry. Some appeared only for portions of the inquiry or for particular segments, such as the
making of final oral submissions in support of previously filed written submissions. Further,

Mr Russell Bayliss, from the Office of the ACT Government Solicitor, initially said he would be
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representing the ACT, employees of the ACT and administrative sub-units that make up the
ACT. This later changed, and individual ACT employees were represented by individual
counsel.

2.21  ActewAGL

ActewAGL was represented by Mr Robert Stitt QC and Mr Andrew Coleman, who were
instructed by Mallesons.

2.2.2  The Australian Capital Territory

The Australian Capital Territory was represented by Mr Richard Tracey QC, Mr Peter
Johnson SC, Mr Paul Lakatos SC and Mr Geoff McCarthy, who were instructed by the Office of
the ACT Government Solicitor.

2.2.3  The Australian Federal Police

The Australian Federal Police was represented by Mr Ken Archer.

2.24  Ms Odile Arman

Ms Odile Arman was represented by Mr James Glissan QC, Mr Selwyn Gibb SC, Mr Geoffrey
Petty SC and Mr Gerard Craddock. She gave evidence on 27 April 2004.'

At the time of giving her evidence Ms Arman was attached to the ACT Chief Minister’s Office,
as a liaison officer for Environment ACT. Her substantive position was District Conservation
Officer. She had been a ranger at Namadgi National Park from 1984 until 1995 and had attended
remote fires as a crew member. Her first role in a command position was in about 1994. Most of
Ms Arman’s fire experience had been with small urban-interface grassland, woodland and open-
forest fires. She was the incident controller at Bruce Ridge during the Christmas 2001 fires and
was in command in the initial response to the Bendora fire on the night of 8 January 2003.

2.2.5 Mr Bruce Arthur

Mr Bruce Arthur was represented by Mr Bret Walker SC and Mr Christopher Erskine. Mr Arthur
gave evidence on 4 May 2004.”

Mr Arthur joined the army as a field engineer in 1965. In 1973 he retrained as an army
firefighter, retiring in 2002. He subsequently joined the NSW Rural Fire Service. At the time of
the January 2003 fires he was District Fire Control Officer for the Yarrowlumla and Queanbeyan
rural fire district. Mr Arthur had previously attended a number of wildfire incidents and had been
the incident controller for two or three campaign fires. Mr Arthur was the day shift incident
controller for the McIntyres Hut fire from 9 to 18 January 2003.

2.2.6  Mr Tony Bartlett

Mr Tony Bartlett was represented by Mr John Watts. Mr Bartlett gave evidence on 31 May and
1,3 and 8 June 2004.°
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At the time of the fires Mr Bartlett was Director of ACT Forests, a position he had held since
October 1999. He has a Bachelor of Forest Science degree from Melbourne University and a
Masters degree in Science (Forestry) from Oxford. Mr Bartlett has over 25 years’ experience in
forest management and fire suppression. His relevant experience is set out in his statement and
was supplemented by his evidence. In summary, it is as follows:

e two years as Fire Protection Officer in East Gippsland
e two years managing the Forest and Fire Program in north-east Victoria

e the role of Divisional Commander in fires leading up to and including Ash Wednesday in
1983

o several other large fire events after that, including the wildfires in the Byadbo wilderness
area in 1988

e compilation of a fire research report published by the Victorian Department of Conservation
and Natural Resources

e leader of 120 Victorian firefighters in the Blue Mountains in NSW in 1994
e incident controller at the 1998 Caledonia wildfires in alpine north-east Victoria.

In addition, Mr Bartlett has attended a large number of formal fire training programs. He has
various accreditations, including as incident controller for type 3 fires and a Statement of
Attainment in Competency 6.02 Major Operations Management under the Australasian Fire
Authorities Council National Fire Training Framework. He is nationally accredited for fulfilling
the role of incident controller under the AIIMS Incident Control System at major wildfires.

2.2.7  Commissioner lan Bennett

Commissioner lan Bennett was represented by Mr James Glissan QC and Mr Edson Pike.
Mr Bennett gave evidence on 2, 3 and 4 March 2004.*

At the time of the fires Mr Bennett was Commissioner of the ACT Fire Brigade, having been in
that position since October 2000 and having been with the ACT Fire Brigade since 1976. He had
also been involved in other kinds of emergencies, among them the Thredbo disaster. In 1994 he
led a taskforce to the Sydney wildfire and was involved in firefighting along St Ives Road. Apart
from that incident, he had no exposure to anything of the magnitude of the January 2003 fires,
and most of his earlier experiences of non-urban fires had been in grassland areas. His only
experience of wildfire in pine plantations had come from the fires of Christmas 2001 in the ACT.

2.2.8  Mr Dannie Camilleri

Mr Dannie Camilleri was represented by Mr Ray Mildren. Mr Camilleri gave evidence on
12 May 2004.°

At the time of the fires Mr Camilleri was the station officer in charge of Ainslie fire station. He
had been in the ACT Fire Brigade since 1983.
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2.29  Mr Peter Cartwright

Mr Peter Cartwright was represented by Mr John Watts. Mr Cartwright gave evidence on
14 May 2004.°

At the time of the fires Mr Cartwright was a relieving district officer in the ACT Fire Brigade.
On 16 January 2003 he attended a briefing by Mr Lucas-Smith for Fire Brigade officers at the
Emergency Services Bureau in Curtin.

2.210 Mr Mike Castle

Mr Mike Castle was represented by Mr James Glissan QC, Mr Peter Hastings QC and Mr Steven
Whybrow. Mr Castle gave evidence on 23, 24, 25 and 26 February and 1 and 2 March 2004.”

At all relevant times Mr Castle was Executive Director of the Emergency Services Bureau. This
was not an operational role. Mr Castle’s background was in the Australian Army, where he rose
to the rank of Lieutenant Colonel. He holds a degree in economics from the Australian National
University and a US degree in personnel management. He has lectured in managerial economics
at the Royal Military College, Duntroon. During his military service he was involved in
providing support to emergency operations, including fire and flood. This was in a non-
firefighting role.

In his statement to the inquiry, Mr Castle described his role as ESB Executive Director as one in
which he was responsible for ensuring that there existed effective arrangements for preparation
for, prevention of, response to and recovery from emergencies. Mr Castle was also a director of
the Australasian Fire Authorities Council. In evidence, he said that in his nine years of running
the Emergency Services Bureau there had been some 2000-odd bushfire events and, he
estimated, about 175 000 different incidents. Mr Castle said he had done some Incident Control
System training after he joined the Emergency Services Bureau in 1994, although he did not
have any formal accreditation. In his statement he said the Emergency Services Bureau had a
budget of approximately $35 million, about 450 full-time employees, and about 850 volunteers.

2.211 Mr Michael Collins

Mr Michael Collins was represented by Mr Geoffrey Petty SC and Mr Ian Bradfield. Mr Collins
gave evidence on 17 May 2004.*

At the time of the fires Mr Collins was a fire brigade officer in the ACT Fire Brigade, having
joined in 1988. After joining the Fire Brigade, he had been an operational firefighter until 1997,
when he was assigned to the Fire Safety section of the brigade. Mr Collins attended the briefing
by Mr Lucas-Smith on 16 January 2003 and was closely involved in the work of the ACT Fire
Brigade incident management team during the following three days.

2.212 Mr Kevin Cooper

Mr Kevin Cooper was represented by Mr Bret Walker SC and Mr Christopher Erskine.
Mr Cooper gave evidence on 7 May and 2 and 3 June 2004.°

At the time of the fires Mr Cooper had been a volunteer member of the NSW Rural Fire Service
for nearly 20 years. He has extensive experience as the Coordinator of Emergency Response
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with the NSW Department of Agriculture. He was Commander of the NSW Rural Fire Service
task force that travelled to the ACT on 16 January 2003. His role was to liaise with ACT
authorities and to ensure the wellbeing of members of the task force. He spent time at the
Emergency Services Bureau in Curtin and had discussions there with both Mr Graham and

Mr McRae.

2.2.13 Mr Neil Cooper
Mr Neil Cooper was represented by Mr John Watts. Mr Cooper gave evidence on 6 May 2004."

At the time of the fires Mr Cooper was employed by ACT Forests; since 2001 he had been
manager of debris removal and fire control and responsible for ACT forest fire management.
Previously, he had been responsible for plantation management. Mr Cooper has a Bachelor of
Science degree from the Australian National University and has had a senior role as a fire
controller for some 15 years. He undertook the AIIMS Incident Control System training in 1991
and in 2002 and is an accredited trainer. During the January 2003 fires Mr Cooper was the ACT
liaison officer at Yarrowlumla for 9 and 10 January and incident controller for the Bendora fire
on some night shifts.

2.214 Mr Tony Corrigan

Mr Tony Corrigan was represented by Mr John Watts. Mr Corrigan gave evidence on 5 May
2004."

For two years Mr Corrigan was a wildlife ecologist with the ACT Parks and Conservation
Service, and in 2000 he became the manager of that organisation. From December 2002 onwards
he ceased to occupy the latter position, being an unattached officer at the time of the fires. In the
1980s and 1990s Mr Corrigan had considerable bushfire experience, usually as a team leader.
That included a number of remote area fires. In December 2001 he was the planning officer for
the Stromlo fire; this was the first type 3 incident where he had been involved in an incident
management team in the field. From 12 to 16 January 2003 he was the ACT liaison officer
situated in Queanbeyan.

2.2.15 Ms Julie Crawford

Ms Julie Crawford was represented by Mr Bret Walker SC and Mr Christopher Erskine. She
gave evidence on 3 May 2004."

In January 2003 Ms Crawford was the Queanbeyan area manager for the NSW National Parks
and Wildlife Service. Her fire experience began in 1979 and included being part of incident
management teams. She was the incident controller for the Mclntyres Hut fire from the time of
its ignition on 8 January 2003 until the following day; thereafter she fulfilled other operational
roles in respect of that fire.

2.2.16  Mr David Dutton

Mr David Dutton was represented by Mr John Watts. Mr Dutton gave evidence on 29 April
2004."
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At the time of the fires Mr Dutton was operations manager for the ACT Ambulance Service. In
that role, he attended meetings at the Emergency Services Bureau, including the briefing by

Mr Lucas-Smith on 16 January and subsequent ESB planning meetings. He prepared memoranda
of information obtained at those meetings and circulated them to ambulance officers.

2.217 Mr Peter Galvin

Mr Peter Galvin was represented by Mr Ray Mildren. Mr Galvin gave evidence on 27 April
2004."

At the time of the fires Mr Galvin was manager of Tidbinbilla Nature Reserve, within the ACT
Parks and Conservation Service. He had held that position for about three years but had worked
with the service since 1988, starting as a park ranger. Mr Galvin is an experienced firefighter and
at the time of the fires held the position of group officer within the ACT Bushfire Service.

2.2.18 Mr Robert Gore
Mr Robert Gore was represented by Mr John Watts. Mr Gore gave evidence on 28 April 2004."

At the time of the fires Mr Gore was a senior executive in the Commonwealth Department of
Defence. He had joined the Jerrabomberra Volunteer Fire Brigade in 1994. At the time of
making his statement he was in his third year as captain of that brigade. On 17 January 2003 he
was the overnight duty coordinator at the communications centre in ESB headquarters in Curtin.

2.219  Mr Tony Graham

Mr Tony Graham was represented by Mr James Glissan QC, Mr Selwyn Gibb SC and Mr Edson
Pike. Mr Graham gave evidence on 23 and 24 March and 5, 6 and 7 April 2004.'¢

At all relevant times Mr Graham was Operations Manager with the ACT Bushfire and
Emergency Services section of the Emergency Services Bureau and was thus involved in some
crucial decision making in connection with both firefighting strategies and resources.

Mr Graham had held that position since July 1997 (then with the title Manager) and from that
point on had had a role as one of the duty coordinators or duty officers at the Emergency
Services Bureau and was the designated Operations Manager in the service management team.
Mr Graham’s curriculum vitae and written statement showed he had spent 21 years in the Royal
Australian Navy. On discharge from the navy in 1993, Mr Graham was a Warrant Officer,
having spent most of his naval career in catering. His firefighting experience was limited to two
or three incidents and the occasional bush or grass fire near shore facilities. In the last few years
of his naval service, Mr Graham joined ACT Emergency Services as a volunteer and received
bushfire training. He was involved in training for the AIIMS Incident Control System and is
accredited as an instructor. Before the 2003 fires he had some experience as an incident
controller between 1998 and 2001. Mr Graham had never actually fought a fire by holding a
hose or rake-hoe and has no training in fire behaviour.
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2.2.20 Ms Felicity Grant
Ms Felicity Grant was represented by Mr John Watts. She gave evidence on 1 June 2004."”

Ms Grant was employed by ACT Forests as a geographical information systems manager. She
holds a Bachelor of Science degree in Environmental Science and on 9 January 2003 was
assigned to the Planning Section of the Emergency Services Bureau to assist Mr McRae.

2.2.21  Mr Dennis Gray

Mr Dennis Gray was represented by Mr Selwyn Gibb SC, Mr Gerard Craddock and Mr Ian
Harvey. Mr Gray gave evidence on 20 and 21 April 2004.'®

At the time of the fires Mr Gray was employed by the ACT Parks and Conservation Service as a
depot foreman. He had been with the service for 25 years and had more than 20 years’
experience as a firefighter. He had been trained in the AIIMS Incident Control System and was
active in the Parks Brigade. He had experience as an incident controller and as deputy captain of
the brigade. On 8 January 2003 Mr Gray was deployed to attend the Stockyard Spur fire.

2.2.22 Mr Richard Hayes

Mr Richard Hayes was represented by Mr James Glissan QC and Mr Steven Whybrow.
Mr Hayes gave evidence on 22 April 2004."

Mr Hayes had worked for the ACT Department of Urban Services until about 1980. He became
a member of the Temora Brigade and then in 1987 resumed employment with the Department of
Urban Services and joined the O’Connor Brigade. He has had experience in a number of fires
and in 2001 was a sector leader at the Stromlo fire. He had undergone Incident Control System
training in 1998 and was incident controller at the Bendora fire on 9 January 2003.

2.2.23 Mr Robert Hunt

Mr Robert Hunt was represented by Mr Bret Walker SC and Mr Christopher Erskine. Mr Hunt
gave evidence on 4 May 2004.%

At the time of the fires Mr Hunt was a ranger with the NSW National Parks and Wildlife
Service, being responsible for Brindabella National Park and Bimberi Nature Reserve. His fire
involvement began in 1989 as a student at Charles Sturt University. He later joined up as a field
officer in Kosciusko National Park, then became a ranger at Narrabri. He was a ranger in the
Queanbeyan area for almost 10 years. Mr Hunt was involved in initial assessment of the
Mclntyres Hut fire on 8 January 2003 and fulfilled other roles in respect of that fire during
subsequent days.

2.2.24 Mr David Ingram

Mr David Ingram was represented by Mr Edson Pike. Mr Ingram gave evidence on 19 and
20 April 2004
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At the time of the fires Mr Ingram was logistics coordinator with ACT Bushfire and Emergency
Services; he has a Diploma of Education in Adult Education and has attended numerous courses
in logistics management. He has assisted with logistics in major operations such as the Canberra
Hospital implosion incident, the Thredbo landslide, and the 2001 fires in Canberra. He also
assisted with logistics for the Canberra aspect of the 2000 Olympic Games. Having joined the
Emergency Services Bureau in 1995 as the operational support officer, Mr Ingram became the
logistics coordinator for both the Bushfire Service and Emergency Services in 1997.

2.2.25 Mr David Jamieson

Mr David Jamieson was represented by Mr John Watts. Mr Jamieson gave evidence on 28 April
2004.%

At the time of the fires Mr Jamieson was employed by ACT Forests as Manager of Environment
and Recreation. Until mid-2002 he had been the bushfire captain with the Forests Brigade.
During the night shift on 11, 12 and 13 January 2003 he worked in the control room at the
Emergency Services Bureau; on 15 January he took over responsibility for plant coordination
and became the ACT Forests representative, which involved monitoring the location of
equipment (such as bulldozers) and compiling crew rosters for tankers and light units. On the
afternoon on 18 January he moved into the Operations Officer position when the state of
emergency was declared.

2.2.26 Commissioner Phil Koperberg

Commissioner Phil Koperberg was represented by Mr Bret Walker SC and Mr Christopher
Erskine. Mr Koperberg gave evidence on 16 and 17 March 2004.%

Mr Koperberg is Commissioner of the NSW Rural Fire Service and his fire experience is
extensive, both operationally and administratively. He began his firefighting activities in 1967,
later becoming deputy captain and then captain of the brigade he joined. In 1970 he was
appointed Fire Control Officer for the Blue Mountains, and in 1972 he became the first chairman
of the Fire Control Officers Association. In 1985 he was appointed Executive Officer of the
Bushfire Branch of the Office of the Minister for Police and Emergency Services in NSW. He
was subsequently appointed to his present position. Mr Koperberg was in telephone contact with
Mr Arthur on a number of occasions between 8 and 18 January 2003 and attended meetings at
the Queanbeyan incident control centre on 15 January with Mr Lucas-Smith and members of the
incident management team responsible for the Mclntyres Hut fire.

2.2.27 Ms Natalie Larkins

Ms Natalie Larkins was represented by Mr Alexander Dawson. She gave evidence on 18 March
2004.%

At the time of the fires Ms Larkins was a journalist employed by the ABC and was a Canberra
resident, living in the suburb of Rivett. Her home was destroyed by fire on 18 January.

Ms Larkins was responsible for the weekend news bulletins on ABC radio on the weekend
beginning 17 January.
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2.2.28 Mr Nick Lhuede

Mr Nick Lhuede was represented by Mr Ray Mildren. Mr Lhuede gave evidence on 10 May
2004.%

At the time of the fires Mr Lhuede was a fire management officer with Environment ACT,
having been appointed to that position in September 2002. Before that, he had been employed
with NSW State Forests as a harvest planning manager and was involved in fire suppression. He
had some incident control training and some remote area firefighting training. As a fire manager
in the ACT, Mr Lhuede became a member of the Land Managers Fire Working Group. He
worked in the Planning Section of the Emergency Services Bureau from 9 to 18 January 2003.

2.2.29 Mr Peter Lucas-Smith

Mr Peter Lucas-Smith was represented by Mr James Glissan QC, Mr Peter Hastings QC and
Mr Phillip Walker. Mr Lucas-Smith gave evidence on 16, 17, 18, 19 and 23 February 2004.%

Mr Lucas-Smith was appointed Chief Fire Control Officer in the ACT in 1986 and held that
position at the time of the fires. He had also held the position of Director of ACT Bushfire and
Emergency Services since the organisation’s formation in 1995. Mr Lucas-Smith’s professional
career had been in firefighting. From 1971 until 1986 he was employed by the NSW National
Parks and Wildlife Service in fire management roles. During that time he was the incident
controller or part of the incident management team for 10 major bushfires and for more than
4000 medium and minor bushfires and other emergency events. Mr Lucas-Smith was awarded
the Australian Fire Service Medal for meritorious and distinguished service in bushfire
management.

2.2.30 Mr Shawn Mcintyre

Mr Shawn Mclntyre was represented by Mr Michael Bartlett. Mr McIntyre gave evidence on
13 May 2004.%

Mr Mclntyre was a station officer with the ACT Fire Brigade, having been appointed to that
position in August 2002. He had been a firefighter for 14 years and at the time of the fires was a
relieving officer attached to the Chisholm fire station. He had had some experience with fighting
rural fires and attended the Sydney fires in 1994, being involved in the Jannali and Como fires.
He had also been involved in some small events in rural areas around Canberra.

2.2.31 Mr Rick McRae

Mr Rick McRae was represented by Mr James Glissan QC, Mr Selwyn Gibb SC, Mr Geoffrey
Petty SC, Mr Gerard Craddock and Mr Ian Harvey. Mr McRae gave evidence on 7, 14, 15 and
16 April 2004

At the time of the fires Mr McRae was Acting Manager of the Risk Management Unit at the
Emergency Services Bureau. By the time he gave his evidence he had been confirmed in that
position. Mr McRae explained during the inquiry that his role was to provide risk-based services
to agencies within the Emergency Services Bureau. He is a trained ecologist, and during the
early 1980s he worked for the Blue Mountains National Park. In that capacity he had some role
in relation to bushfire suppression when acting as a firefighter and crew leader of remote area
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firefighting teams. He was involved in about six major fires. In the late 1980s he worked for the
Victorian Department of Conservation, Forests and Lands on alpine management, but that did
not involve any bushfire fighting. In July 1989 Mr McRae took up employment with the ACT
Bushfire Service, initially as the fire management planning officer, which involved weather
mapping and fire behaviour prediction. Once the Incident Control System came into use in the
ACT, in the early 1990s, he became the planning officer.

2.2.32  Mr Brian Murphy

Mr Brian Murphy was represented by Mr Steven Whybrow. Mr Murphy gave evidence on
23 April 2004.%

At the time of the fires Mr Murphy was employed by the Department of Urban Services to
manage the maintenance of Canberra’s lakes (other than Lake Burley Griffin) and coordinated
bushfire management between the Department of Urban Services and Cityscape Services. This
involved fuel reduction, including burns. Mr Murphy is an experienced bushfire fighter who has
provided training in bushfire fighting. He is a member of the ACT Bushfire Council.

2.2.33 Mr Peter Newham

Mr Peter Newham was represented by Mr James Glissan QC and Mr John Watts. Mr Newham
gave evidence on 11 May 2004.*°

At all relevant times Mr Newham was either Acting Superintendent or Superintendent with the
ACT Fire Brigade. He had been a firefighter since 1978 and had held various ranks, including
station officer and manager. He has various qualifications relating to command and control. He
was commander of an ACT taskforce at the 1994 Sydney fires and also had a command role at
the 1997 Thredbo landslide and the 1999 Sydney hailstorm. Mr Newham attended the briefing
by Mr Lucas-Smith on 16 January 2003 and was involved in directing preparations by the ACT
Fire Brigade between that date and 18 January 2003.

2.2.34 Mr David Prince

Mr David Prince was represented by Mr Christopher Whitelaw. Mr Prince gave evidence on
4 June 2004.”

At the time of giving evidence Mr Prince was Acting Fire Commissioner at the ACT Fire
Brigade. In January 2003 he was Acting Superintendent and Deputy Director, Communications
Upgrade Project, for the Emergency Services Bureau. Mr Prince attended the briefing by

Mr Lucas-Smith on 16 January 2003 and was closely involved in the ACT Fire Brigade’s
preparations in the days leading up to 18 January and in meetings to discuss community
warnings and preparedness on 17 and 18 January 2003.

2.2.35 Ms Vivian Raffaele

Ms Vivian Raffaele was represented by Mr James Glissan QC and Mr Steven Whybrow. She
gave evidence on 22 April 2004.%
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Ms Raffaele was a ranger employed by the ACT Parks and Conservation Service. She was the
Senior Deputy Captain of the ACT Parks Brigade and a member of the Tidbinbilla Volunteer
Bushfire Brigade and had been involved in firefighting for 15 years.

2.2.36  Mr Hilton Taylor

Mr Hilton Taylor was represented by Mr John Watts. Mr Taylor gave evidence on 11 May
2004.%

Since 2001 Mr Taylor has been Manager of Strategic Planning and Harvesting with ACT
Forests. He holds an Associate Diploma of Applied Science in Forestry and a Bachelor of
Science degree. He has international experience in forest harvesting, planning and management
and also holds some firefighting qualifications, including Incident Control System training and
accreditation as a planning officer level 2. Additionally, he has completed formal study in fire
behaviour, fire management and fire weather.

2.2.37 Mr Andrew Winter

Mr Andrew Winter was represented by Mr John Watts. Mr Winter gave evidence on 27 April
2004.*

Mr Winter was employed by ACT Forests as a senior harvesting forester. He is a graduate of the
Australian National University, having a Bachelor of Science degree in Forestry and a Master of
Science degree. He has had experience in firefighting operations in native and pine forests since

1996 and has extensive firefighting qualifications. Mr Winter was Captain of the Forests Brigade
at the time of the 2003 fires.

2.3 Witnesses not represented by counsel

In addition to the witnesses and entities who were given leave to be represented by legal
practitioners, the following individuals appeared as witnesses without legal representation.

2.3.1  Mr Michael Anderson

Mr Michael Anderson gave evidence on 27 May 2004.% At the time of the fires he was a
resident of the Uriarra forestry settlement.

2.3.2  Commander Peter Bennetts

Commander Peter Bennetts gave evidence on 27 May 2004.°® At the time of the fires he was the
senior fire commander with Air Services Australia and was located at Canberra airport.

2.3.3  Senior Constable Christopher Bird
Senior Constable Christopher Bird gave evidence on 16 October 2003."
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2.3.4  Constable Gregory Booth
Constable Gregory Booth gave evidence on 16 October 2003.%*

2.3.5  Mr Michael Boyle

Mr Michael Boyle gave evidence on 19 May 2004.% At the time of the fires he was a resident of
Chapman.

2.3.6  Constable Christopher Burgess
Constable Christopher Burgess gave evidence on 16 October 2003.*

2.3.7  Sergeant Jason Byrnes

Sergeant Jason Byrnes gave evidence on 30 April 2004.*' Before 18 January 2003 he was the
acting officer-in-charge of Tuggeranong Police Station. In that capacity he had a telephone
conversation with Mr Graham on 15 January 2003. On 18 January he had a police liaison role at
the Emergency Services Bureau.

2.3.8  Mr Phil Cheney

Mr Phil Cheney gave evidence on 9, 10, 13, 14 and 15 October 2003, 26 and 27 August 2004
and 15, 16, 20 and 21 September 2004.** At the time of giving evidence he was a senior
principal research scientist with CSIRO, specialising in bushfire behaviour and management. He
has a number of relevant tertiary qualifications, among them a Diploma of Forestry and a
Bachelor of Science in Forestry degree. During the first half of the 1970s Mr Cheney lectured at
the Australian National University on subjects associated with fires and fire suppression. He has
since held various positions with the Forest Research Institute; his work includes developing
guidelines for prescribed burning and the application of aerial prescribed burning for fuel
reduction in mountains and forests. He has led research projects on the use of large air tankers,
the behaviour of high-intensity fires, the effectiveness of retardants, understanding the spread of
bushfires in the natural environment, and the development of models to predict fire behaviour.
He has also been involved in more than 50 consultancies as a fire behaviour expert—including
providing advice to the Emergency Services Bureau and its predecessor—and has written or
co-written a substantial number of related publications. Early in his career Mr Cheney had some
experience as a firefighter in the field. He was subsequently involved in fire suppression and
control on experimental fires, and he initiated and led the Project Vesta experiments on fire
spread in Western Australia; these experiments began in 1996. Mr Cheney is one of Australia’s
pre-eminent experts on fire behaviour, suppression and management.

2.3.9  Mr Michael Connell

Mr Michael Connell gave evidence on 24 May 2004.* At the time of the fires he was a resident
of Duffy.
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2.3.10 Mr Clem Davis

Mr Clem Davis gave evidence on 7 and 8 October 2003.* He has worked as a meteorologist in
Canberra for 31 years and provided the weather briefing to the planning meeting on the morning
of 18 January 2003.

2.3.11 Mr Benjamin Dearsley

Mr Benjamin Dearsley gave evidence on 18 May 2004.* As a volunteer bushfire fighter with the
Gungahlin Brigade, he was a member of the remote area firefighting crew posted to the
Stockyard Spur fire on 9 January 2003.

2.312 Ms Tracey Devitt

Ms Tracey Devitt gave evidence on 21 May 2004.* At the time of the fires she was a resident of
Duffy.

2.3.13 Dr Peter Ellis

Dr Peter Ellis gave evidence on 15 October 2003.*” He is a research scientist with CSIRO. His
scientific work has been in modelling fire-brand and spotting behaviour and assessing radiant
heat. In August 2003 Dr Ellis prepared a report, in conjunction with Mr Andrew Sullivan, for the
ACT Planning and Land Authority on pathways of fire attack on and within the suburbs of
Canberra.

2.3.14 Mr Alan Evans

Mr Alan Evans gave evidence on 21 May 2004.*® At the time of the fires he was a resident of
Duffy.

2.3.15 Mr David Ferry

Mr David Ferry gave evidence on 25 May 2004.%° At the time of the fires he was a resident of
the Stromlo forestry settlement.

2.3.16 Ms Jillian Ferry

Ms Jillian Ferry gave evidence on 23 March 2004.”° At the time of the fires she was the
administrative liaison officer for the Bushfire and Emergency Services branch of the Emergency
Services Bureau. She assisted Mr Lucas-Smith and performed various administrative tasks,
including note taking and preparing minutes of ESB planning meetings.

2.3.17 Mr Graham Franklin-Browne

Mr Graham Franklin-Browne gave evidence on 25 May 2004.%" At the time of the fires he was a
resident of the Stromlo forestry settlement.
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2.3.18 Mr Nicholas Gellie

Mr Nicholas Gellie gave evidence on 11 May 2004.>* He is a landscape ecologist and holds a
Bachelor of Science in Forestry degree. In 1983 he was appointed fire management officer for
the NSW National Parks and Wildlife Service in the Blue Mountains National Park. In that
position, he developed systems of fire appraisal and fire management. In 1995 he moved to
Queanbeyan and became manager of the Natural Heritage Unit, involved with natural heritage
management and conservation planning. He retired in 2000. On 16 January 2003 he went to the
Emergency Services Bureau as a volunteer and assisted with the prediction of fire behaviour.

2.3.19 Mr James Gould

Mr James Gould gave evidence on 3 June 2004.% At the time of the fires he was a research
officer with CSIRO, responsible for coordinating bushfire research programs and fire behaviour
modelling, fuel management and suppression technology.

2.3.20 Mr Tony Greep

Mr Tony Greep gave evidence on 22 April 2004.>* At the time of the fires he was captain of the
Hall Volunteer Bushfire Brigade, which attended the Mount Gingera fire on 10 January 2003. He
had been a member of the Bushfire Service for 14 years.

2.3.21 Dr Lavinia Hallam

Dr Lavinia Hallam gave evidence on 16 October 2003.> At the time of the fires she was a
pathologist employed by the ACT Department of Health.

2.3.22 Mrs Jill Hardy

Mrs Jill Hardy gave evidence on 19 May 2004.%° At the time of the fires she was a resident of
Weston.

2.3.23 Ms Marika Harvey

Ms Marika Harvey gave evidence on 18 and 22 March 2004.°” She had worked in the public
relations area of the ACT Government for about six years, being predominantly involved in
media liaison. At the relevant time she was Manager of Public Relations in the Chief Minister’s
Department, and one of her roles was to assist with media aspects of the fires; she reported
primarily to Mr Castle and Mr Lucas-Smith.

2.3.24 Mr James Hoare

Mr James Hoare gave evidence on 25 May 2004.>® At the time of the fires he was a resident of
Duffy and owned a property, Tingaringa, on Mountain Creek Road.
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2.3.25 Mr Jason Houghton

Mr Jason Houghton gave evidence on 4 June 2004.% At the time of the fires he was a resident of
the Uriarra forestry settlement.

2.3.26  Mr Val Jeffery

Mr Val Jeffery gave evidence on 17 May 2004.%° In the 1950s he was a foundation member of
the Tharwa Fire Brigade, which later became the Southern Districts Brigade. In 1994 he was
awarded the Australian Fire Service Medal. At the time of giving evidence he held the position
of Brigade Captain. Mr Jeffery has fought numerous fires, including campaign fires in both the
ACT and NSW, many of which have threatened rural residences. He has completed several
training courses, including in the AIIMS Incident Control System. Mr Jeffery was chairman of
the Bush Fire Council from 1978 to 1991, and during that period was closely involved with the
organisation and management of the non-urban bushfire suppression capability in the ACT.

2.3.27 Ms Riemke Kampen

Ms Riemke Kampen gave evidence on 20 May 2004.%" At the time of the fires she was a resident
of Duffy.

2.3.28 Mr Simon Katz

Mr Simon Katz gave evidence on 18 May 2004.* As captain of the Rivers Volunteer Bushfire
Brigade, he responded to the Bendora fire on 10 January 2003. He was subsequently involved
with firefighting and organising crews throughout the period of the fires.

2.3.29 Mr Tim Keady

Mr Tim Keady gave evidence on 4 March, 19 April and 7 May 2004.% He had been a career
public servant in the NSW Attorney-General’s Department and later became Director-General of
the NSW Ministry of Police and Emergency Services. He moved to the ACT in 1996 and was
appointed Chief Executive of the then Attorney-General’s Department. In the same year the
Emergency Services Bureau moved from the Department of Urban Services to the Attorney-
General’s Department (later renamed the Department of Justice and Community Safety). At the
time of the fires Mr Keady was the Chief Executive of the Department of Justice and Community
Safety and responsible for the Emergency Services Bureau. In that capacity he attended planning
meetings at the bureau.

2.3.30 Ms Kate Keane

Ms Kate Keane gave evidence on 22 and 23 March 2004.%* At the time of the fires she was the
emergency management support officer at the Emergency Services Bureau. She liaised with
members of the Emergency Management Committee and assisted with taking notes and
preparing minutes of ESB planning meetings.
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2.3.31 Sergeant Stephen Kirby

Sergeant Stephen Kirby gave evidence on 30 April 2004.® He is a member of the Australian
Federal Police. During the week leading up to 18 January 2003 he had been the acting officer in
charge of the specialist response and security team. On 16 January 2003 Commander Newton
appointed him ACT police liaison officer with the Emergency Services Bureau. He had meetings
with Mr Prince and others on 17 and 18 January; at these meetings he was given information
about the threat posed by the fires.

2.3.32  Mr Dennis Kugler

Mr Dennis Kugler gave evidence on 18 May 2004.°° As a member of the Guises Creek
Volunteer Bushfire Service, he responded to the Bendora fire on 9 January 2003.

2.3.33 Mrs Melinda Latta

Mrs Melinda Latta gave evidence on 20 May 2004.°7 At the time of the fires she was a resident
of Duffy.

2.3.34  Sir Peter Lawler

Sir Peter Lawler gave evidence on 20 May 2004.°® At the time of the fires he was a resident of
Duffy. Before retiring in 1987, Sir Peter was Secretary of the Commonwealth Department of
Administrative Services and had served as Ambassador to Ireland and the Holy See.

2.3.35 Mr Michael Lecocguen

Mr Michael Lecocguen gave evidence on 4 June 2004.° At the time of the fires he was a
resident of the Pierces Creek forestry settlement.

2.3.36  Mr Justin Leonard

Mr Justin Leonard gave evidence on 26 August 2004.”° He holds the degree of Bachelor of
Mechanical and Manufacturing Engineering and is head of the Bushfire Research Team in the
Manufacturing and Infrastructure Technology Division of CSIRO. Among other things, that
division supports the building industry in Australia, with particular reference to the effects of
bushfires on structures. Mr Leonard carried out research into the causes of house losses during
the Canberra fires.

2.3.37 Mr James Lewington

Mr James Lewington gave evidence on 19 May 2004.”" At the time of the fires he was a resident
of Kambah.
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2.3.38 Ms Amy Lowe

Ms Amy Lowe gave evidence on 22 March 2004.”> She holds a Bachelor of Communications
degree specialising in community relations. From 19 December 2001 to 30 October 2003 she
was community education and public relations coordinator at the Emergency Services Bureau.
The roles she had been fulfilling before the fires were varied, but media liaison had been a
relatively small element.

2.3.39 Mr lan Mason

Mr Ian Mason gave evidence on 7 October 2003.7* At the time of the fires he was acting officer
in charge of the Canberra meteorological office. On the request of Mr McRae, Mr Mason
attended the morning planning meetings at the Emergency Services Bureau on 15, 16 and

17 January to provide a briefing on forecast weather conditions.

2.3.40 Mr Howard McBeth

Mr Howard McBeth gave evidence on 8 October 2003.”* Between 1981 and 1986 he was in
charge of the fire management unit of the Department of Environment and Planning with the
South Australian National Parks and Wildlife Service, which managed fire on all government
lands. Between 1986 and 1994 he was the Deputy Chief Officer with the South Australian
Country Fire Service and its Chief Operations Officer, effectively giving him control of rural
fires in that state. Since 1994 Mr McBeth has been a consultant on fire-related matters and has
given evidence as an expert witness. In the early 1990s he prepared a report on fuel management
in the ACT and the risk of wildfire.

2.3.41 Mr Brett McNamara

Mr Brett McNamara gave evidence on 21 and 22 April 2004.” He was a district manager with
the ACT Department of Parks and Conservation. With a Bachelor of Applied Science degree,
which includes units in fire ecology and fire behaviour, he was the resident ranger at Bendora
Dam for several years. At the time of the January 2003 fires he was deputy captain of the Parks
Brigade, and he was incident controller for the Stockyard Spur fire on 9 January 2003.

2.3.42  Chief Police Officer John Murray

Chief Police Officer John Murray gave evidence on 30 April 2004.” In January 2003 he was the
Chief Police Officer for the ACT and a Deputy Commissioner in the Australian Federal Police.
He began his career in 1963 in South Australia and was a member of the South Australian Police
Force at various ranks until 1997. From 1997 to 2000 he was an Associate Professor at Charles
Sturt University, and in September 2000 he became Chief Police Officer for the ACT. He held
that position until February 2004.

2.3.43 Commander Mandy Newton

Commander Mandy Newton gave evidence on 13 May 2004.”" At all relevant times she was
Commander of Operations in ACT Policing. Apart from between 1995 and 2002, she has been a
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member of the Australian Federal Police since 1983. Between 1995 and 2002 she worked with
ActewAGL and, more briefly, with the Australian Taxation Office.

2.3.44  Mr John Nicholson

Mr John Nicholson gave evidence on 24 and 25 October 2005.” Since March 1999 he has
operated his own consultancy firm, Community Safety Service Pty Ltd. Between 1994 and 1999
he was Director, Risk Management, with the Victorian Country Fire Authority, and between
1967 and 1994 he was employed as an operational officer with the Country Fire Authority, rising
to Deputy Chief Officer in 1991.

2.3.45 Mr Leonard Norris

Mr Leonard Norris gave evidence on 21 May 2004.” At the time of the fires he was a resident of
Duffy.

2.3.46  Mr Reginald Park

Mr Reginald Park gave evidence on 19 May 2004.*° At the time of the fires he was a resident of
Chapman.

2.3.47 Ms Judy Poulos

Ms Judy Poulos gave evidence on 27 May 2004.%" At the time of the fires she was a resident of
Duffy.

2.3.48 Mr Trevor Roche

Mr Trevor Roche gave evidence on 5, 6, 7 and 8 and 17, 18 and 24 October 2005 2 He joined
the Victorian Country Fire Authority as a volunteer in 1963. He later became a staff member and
attended numerous large bushfires as a firefighter and commanding officer. He became an
assistant regional officer in the authority in 1969 and regional officer in charge of the northern
Victoria region in 1978. In 1990 Mr Roche was appointed Assistant Chief Officer, with
responsibility for command and control and business management across three regions. In 1993
he was promoted to the position of Deputy Chief Officer, with responsibility for Country Fire
Authority operations throughout the state. In 1995 he became Chief Officer, a position he held
until his retirement on 26 June 2002. During his time with the Country Fire Authority, Mr Roche
attended courses on many aspects of fire and other emergency management and activity. Since
leaving the authority he has been involved with Emergency Management Australia, dealing with
multi-jurisdiction emergency management and preparedness.

2.3.49 Mr Arthur Sayer

Mr Arthur Sayer gave evidence on 23 April 2004.% At the time of the fires he was a district
works officer with Environment ACT, Parks and Conservation. Mr Sayer had about 37 years of
firefighting experience, 24 of them as a government employee. Until July 2003, when he
resigned, Mr Sayer was a Deputy Chief Fire Control Officer.
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2.3.50 Mr Perry Smith

Mr Perry Smith gave evidence on 20 May 2004.* At the time of the fires he was a resident of
Duffy.

2.3.51 Mr Peter Smith

Mr Peter Smith gave evidence on 8 June 2004.*> At the time of the fires he was captain of the
Brindabella Brigade and had been with that brigade for 30 years. He had been captain since 1990
and had qualified to group officer level. He was involved in the response to the Mclntyres Hut
fire and travelled to the point of ignition of that fire to help assess the area’s accessibility for fire
tankers.

2.3.52  Mrs Jane Smyth

Mrs Jane Smyth gave evidence on 24 May 2004.% At the time of the fires she was a resident of
Chapman.

2.3.53 Chief Minister Jon Stanhope

Chief Minister Jon Stanhope gave evidence on 20 April 2004.* Elected to the ACT Legislative
Assembly in 1998, he has been the Chief Minister of the ACT since November 2001. At the time
of the fires he also held the office of Attorney-General. He was on leave between § and

13 January 2003, during which time Mr Ted Quinlan was acting in the role of Chief Minister.
Mr Bill Wood, the then Minister for Police and Emergency Services, was on leave for a short
time (including on 17 and 18 January) and Mr Stanhope also acted in that position while

Mr Wood was on leave. From time to time Mr Stanhope was briefed on the fires, and he
participated in the Cabinet briefing of Thursday 16 January 2003. At the relevant time

Mr Stanhope’s portfolio responsibilities included the Department of Justice and Community
Safety, and the Emergency Services Bureau from 17 to 19 January 2003.

2.3.54 Constable Reece Strachan

Constable Reece Strachan gave evidence on16 October 2003.%

2.3.55 Mr Alan Thompson

Mr Alan Thompson gave evidence on 3 June 2004.% At the time of the fires he was the Chief
Executive of the ACT Department of Urban Services, which included ACT Forests. Mr Bartlett
briefed him on the fires and the threat to the pine plantations.

2.3.56  Mr Kenneth Ticehurst

Mr Kenneth Ticehurst gave evidence on 13 October 2003.”° He is an electrical engineer and
owns a company, Kattron, that specialises in lightning detection systems. He provided to the
inquiry evidence on the location of lighting strikes in the area of the origin of each of the four
fires.
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2.3.57 Mr William Todkill

Mr William Todkill gave evidence on 4 June 2004.”" At the time of the fires he was a resident of
the Stromlo forestry settlement.

2.3.58 Mr Robert Tonkin

Mr Robert Tonkin gave evidence on 29 April 2004.°* In January 2003 he was the Chief
Executive of the ACT Chief Minister’s Department and had held that position for almost three
years. His first relevant connection with the bushfires was on Sunday 12 January, when he
contacted the Chief Minister. This led to a briefing being arranged for the following day.

Mr Tonkin was also present at the Cabinet briefing on 16 January and at the Emergency Services
Bureau on the morning of 18 January 2003.

2.3.59 Ms Niki Van Buuren

Ms Niki Van Buuren gave evidence on 24 May 2004.”> She was injured whilst trying to rescue
her horse from the Canberra Equestrian Centre in Chapman.

2.3.60 Mr Robert Webb

Mr Robert Webb gave evidence on 7 October 2003.* He is the senior severe-weather
meteorologist with the Bureau of Meteorology in Sydney. Within NSW he has responsibility for
severe thunderstorm warning services and bushfire warning services in the state. He liaises with
the Canberra meteorological office. During the January 2003 fires he was involved in
discussions about weather patterns and the provision of briefings to senior personnel in the NSW
Rural Fire Service.

2.3.61 Ms Janelle Wheatley

Ms Janelle Wheatley gave evidence on 28 April 2004.”> At the time of the fires she was
employed by the Department of Education, Youth and Family Services as Executive Officer. Her
department was required to provide community recovery services to affected persons in the event
of emergency. She became aware of briefings that were being given at the Emergency Services
Bureau during the week leading up to 18 January 2003. She attended the ESB planning meeting
on the evening of 17 January and other meetings the following morning, where she took notes of
the matters discussed. She also assisted with contacting rural lessees on 17 and 18 January.

2.4 Leave to appear in person

In addition to the entities and individuals given leave to be represented by a legal practitioner,
Mr John Lowe was given leave to appear in person on behalf of the ACT Sustainable Rural
Lands Group.
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3 The course of the inquests
and the fire inquiry

As noted in Chapter 1, on 19 January 2003 I first viewed the devastation caused by the

18 January firestorm. From that date onwards, members of the Australian Federal Police began
assembling evidence and taking statements from potential witnesses in anticipation of the
inquests into the four deaths and the fire inquiry.

I formally opened the inquiry at a directions hearing on 16 June 2003 and held a subsequent
directions hearing on 1 September 2003. I began to hear evidence on 7 October 2003. A number
of delays during the inquiry resulted in the final oral submissions by counsel not being presented
until 28 July 2006—three-and-a-half years after my first viewing of the fire damage.

3.1 Technology

It became apparent in the first few days after the firestorm that the inquiry would probably be
very extensive and therefore would benefit from advanced technological support. Potter Farrelly
& Associates (contracted as the 3C Consulting Group) were engaged as the technology managers
for the inquiry, to provide technical advice and support in relation to management of documents
and evidence (including conversion of data collected by the Australian Federal Police) and
management of the e-court hearing room.

Essentially, the hearings were paperless: all key evidence was made available via computers and
large-format viewing screens mounted in the court room. There was also a public gallery in an
adjacent court room; it received live audio and video of proceedings as they occurred in the main
court room.

The primary document repository was maintained through an electronic court book and case
management system. This provided local access to all relevant documents and allowed counsel
access to the documents remotely from their chambers, both in the ACT and interstate, using a
secure internet connection. Daily transcript was also made available by the same internet-based
system, to allow 24-hour access to all crucial materials.

Counsel provided additional information direct to the court. This was electronically processed
and provided back to counsel for presentation during the inquiry or for tendering as evidence
during the proceedings.

The e-court allowed counsel to present all forms of material—audio, video and paper-based.
Where required, technology training was provided to counsel, to help them participate fully in
the inquiry.

The Canberra Firestorm: Inquests and Inquiry into Four Deaths and Four Fires between 8 and 18 January 2003 39



3.2  Statistics

During 103 hearing days 95 witnesses were examined, cross-examined and re-examined
(individually and to differing degrees) by some or many of the 28 counsel involved at various
times in the inquiry.

All participants were assisted to some extent by the technology just described. That support
involved the processing of 40 762 documents and 88 470 pages, including 20 002 audio files,
1081 maps, 84 photographs, 43 audio transcripts, and eight video files. The 103 hearing days
generated a transcript of oral evidence and submissions running to about 10 000 pages.

By any measure, the inquiry was a large undertaking.

3.3 Leave to appear

Many requests for leave to appear at the inquiry were made; several of them were refused. The
entities and individuals granted leave to appear are listed in Chapter 2.

3.4  The first phase of evidence

In the course of opening remarks on 7 October 2003, counsel assisting submitted that the
firestorm of 18 January 2003 might have been preventable, or at least its intensity might have
been mitigated, and referred to a lack of aggression in attacking the fires in the first few days
after their ignition on 8 January.' Counsel assisting further submitted that the warnings given to
the ACT community were inadequate.” They also made reference to high fuel loads.?

The first phase of the evidence ran from 7 to 16 October 2003. This period was mostly taken up
with witnesses providing expert evidence. Mr Phil Cheney, from CSIRO, dealt with fire
behaviour, fire spread and the progress of the fires from their ignition until the conflagration in
Canberra’s suburbs on 18 January 2003. Mr Kenneth Ticehurst, an expert in lightning strikes,
gave evidence about the ignition of the fires. Dr Peter Ellis, a CSIRO researcher, gave evidence
about how various garden types contributed to the spread of fire in the suburbs. Mr Howard
McBeth gave evidence about a report he prepared in 1994, in which he predicted a firestorm
reaching the suburbs of Canberra.

The first phase of evidence concluded with evidence about the four deaths.*

3.5 The four deaths: interim findings

So that the families of those who died could finalise their affairs, I made interim findings after
hearing evidence of the circumstances in which each of the four people had died. My interim
findings were as follows:

e  Mrs Dorothy (Dolly) McGrath died on Saturday 18 January 2003 at about 3.00 pm at her
home—Cottage No. 5, Stromlo Forestry Settlement, RMB 113, Cotter Road, Duffy. The
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cause of her death was most probably thermal injury from a fire that had entered the Stromlo
Forestry Settlement.

e  Mrs Alison Mary Tener died on Saturday 18 January 2003 at about 3.15 pm at her home—
9 Burrendong Street, Duffy. The cause of her death was most probably smoke inhalation
from a fire that had entered the suburb of Duffy.

e  Mr Peter Brabazon Brooke died on Saturday 18 January 2003 at about 3.15 pm at his
home—40 Tullaroop Street, Duffy. The cause of his death was most probably a heart attack
suffered as an effect of a fire that had entered Duffy that afternoon.

e  Mr Douglas Fraser died on Saturday 18 January 2003 between about 4.00 pm and 6.15 pm
at his home—23 Burrendong Street, Duffy. The cause of his death was most probably
inhalation of smoke from a fire that had entered Duffy that afternoon.

These deaths are dealt with in detail in Chapter 8.

3.6 The second phase of evidence

Following a directions hearing on 15 December 2003, the second phase of evidence began on
16 February 2004 and, with the exception of the interruption discussed in Section 3.7, continued
until 8 October 2004. It was during this period that most of the witnesses gave their evidence.

In addition to the witnesses listed in Chapter 2, other potential witnesses made statements. On
24 April 2004 counsel assisting said they had reviewed the witness list and divided it into two
types—those who would be called to give evidence in person and those who would be called to
give evidence only if counsel for an interested person wished them to be called. It was, however,
noted that the latter group’s statements and other related material in the brief of evidence would
become part of the evidence, as if those persons had been called to give evidence. Counsel for
these persons made no requests that they be called to give evidence. Accordingly, their
statements and related materials in the brief became part of the evidence. Counsel assisting later
made the following submission:

No request was later made of us on behalf of any party that any of the make-available
witnesses be called for cross-examination. In the circumstances, Your Honour is
entitled to rely on the evidence of each of the witnesses marked MA in the list of
witnesses circulated to Your Honour and the represented parties on 23 April 2004, as if
each of them was called and sworn as to the truth of their statements and other materials
provided by them.?

Evidence taking continued until 5 October 2004, at which time it was expected that the evidence
would conclude with the evidence of two experts—MTr Trevor Roche and Mr John Nicholson—
and with the possible recall of Mr Mike Castle and Mr Peter Lucas-Smith. Mr Roche began
giving evidence on that date and continued until the end of proceedings on Friday 8 October
2004, when his cross-examination was still part-heard.

As the transcript shows, at the end of that day there was discussion between the Bench and the
Bar about how long it might take to conclude the taking of evidence. There was consensus that
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the evidence could be completed within about four days; that is, having resumed on Monday
11 October, counsel expected to finish by Thursday 14 October 2004.

When proceedings recommenced on Monday 11 October, Mr Glissan SC announced his
appearance on behalf of a number of interested persons and said he had been briefed to apply
that I disqualify myself from continuing with the inquiry on the ground of apprehended bias. He
said he had been briefed in this regard during the preceding week. This means that, when counsel
for some interested persons indicated on Friday 8 October 2004 their expectation that the
evidence taking would probably conclude within four days, they knew of this intended
application but said nothing about it.

In the light of the application, the finalisation of Mr Roche’s evidence did not take place as
intended. Among the grounds alleged as the basis for the application was criticism of counsel
assisting. The practical effect of this was that counsel assisting could not proceed. After hearing
and considering each of the grounds on which counsel relied, I concluded that a reasonable, fair-
minded lay observer would not apprehend bias. I had also given careful consideration to
decisions of the High Court of Australia on this subject before reaching my conclusion. The
governing principles were summarised in Johnson v Johnson:

It has been established by a series of decisions of this Court that the test to be applied in
Australia in determining whether a judge is disqualified by reason of the appearance of
bias (which, in the present case, was said to take the form of pre-judgment) is whether a
fair-minded lay observer might reasonably apprehend that the judge might not bring an
impartial and unprejudiced mind to the resolution of the question the judge is required
to decide ... two things need to be remembered: the observer is taken to be reasonable;
and the person being observed is ‘a professional judge whose training, tradition and
oath or affirmation require [the judge] to discard the irrelevant, the immaterial and the
prejudicial’ ... the reasonableness of any suggested apprehension of bias is to be
considered in the context of ordinary judicial practice. The rules and conventions
governing such practice are not frozen in time. They develop to take account of the
exigencies of modern litigation. At the trial level, modern judges, responding to a need
for more active case management, intervene in the conduct of cases to an extent that
may surprise a person who came to court expecting a judge to remain, until the moment
of pronouncement of judgment, as inscrutable as the Sphinx ... Judges are not expected
to wait until the end of a case before they start thinking about the issues, or to sit mute
while evidence is advanced and arguments are presented. On the contrary, they will
often form tentative opinions on matters in issue and counsel are usually assisted by
hearing those opinions, and being given an opportunity to deal with them.®

I also had in mind a judicial officer’s obligation to do his or her duty unless disqualified by law.
This, too, was dealt with in Johnson v Johnson:

42

[There was a] salutary warning given in Re JRL; ex parte CJL [(1986) 161 CLR342 at
352] that judicial officers within Australia were obliged to discharge their professional
duties unless disqualified by law. They were told not to accede too readily to
suggestions of an appearance of bias, lest parties be encouraged to seek such
disqualification without justification. Applications of that kind might sometimes be
made in the hope of securing an adjudicator more sympathetic to a party’s cause. Or
they might be made because of the strategic advantage that may thereby be secured,
especially the interruption of lengthy proceedings [cf Locabail (2000) QB451 at 479]
and the delays consequent upon obtaining a fresh start in a busy court or tribunal.”
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Accordingly, on 19 October 2004 I declined to disqualify myself. The following day proceedings
were commenced in the Supreme Court of the ACT, and I was thus prevented from continuing
with the final few days of evidence taking until after the Supreme Court ultimately found in my
favour. This is dealt with in Section 3.8.

3.7 The first government litigation

Some counsel sought access to a range of documents relating to the evidence of two of the expert
witnesses, Mr Cheney and Mr Roche, including earlier drafts of final reports tendered into
evidence and provided to all counsel. I considered this unnecessary and unreasonable and,
having regard to the fact that ... an adjudicator may properly adopt reasonable efforts to confine
proceedings within appropriate limits and to ensure that time is not wasted’*, on 26 August 2004
I declined to direct that documents be produced. The following day, proceedings were
commenced in the Supreme Court of the ACT on behalf of the ACT and a number of ACT
government employees.

A hearing took place on 6 and 7 September 2004. At the end of the hearing Whitlam J said he
would be making some orders concerning the production of documents. In anticipation of those
orders—and in an effort to reduce the loss of further time to the inquiry—at my request on

9 September 2004 counsel assisting advised the office of the ACT Government Solicitor and the
legal representatives of the ACT government employees involved in the proceedings that copies
of the documents were available for collection; the copies were mostly collected before His
Honour made his orders on 10 September 2004. Chapter 9 provides more information about this
litigation.

3.8 The second government litigation

As noted in Section 3.6, after I refused to disqualify myself the ACT and a number of ACT
government employees initiated proceedings in the Supreme Court of the ACT. Had that
litigation been successful, I would have been unable to conclude the inquiry.

After the Supreme Court proceedings began on 20 October 2004 I was prevented from hearing
the last few days of evidence. The proceedings were conducted over 10 hearing days in
February, March and May of 2005, before a panel of three justices—Higgins CJ, Crispin P and
Bennett J. The Supreme Court delivered its unanimous judgment on 5 August 2005. The
litigation initiated by the ACT and the ACT government employees was unsuccessful. I was able
to resume the inquiry, but a year had been lost.

3.9 Completion of evidence

A large number of counsel were involved in the inquiry and, because during the Supreme Court
proceedings they had taken up other matters, it was not possible to resume the inquiry until a
directions hearing on 13 October 2005, following which Mr Roche’s evidence resumed, on

17 October. The evidence of expert witness Mr Nicholson, engaged by cou